1979

Velma Gladys Yates v. Vernal Family Health Center,
A Project of Division of Family And Community
Medicine, University of Utah; Uintah County
Hospital; Vernal Drug Company, A Utah
Corporation; And Gordon Lee Balka, M.D : Brief
of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff-appellant, Velma Gladys Yates, brought this action to recover damages for personal injuries alleging the commission of medical malpractice by defendants-respondents.

DISPOSITION OF THE LOWER COURT

The Honorable Allen B. Sorensen found that appellant had failed to comply with the notice requirement of 78-14-8, Utah Code Ann., and ordered the appellant's complaint dismissed.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the lower court's order dismissing the complaint and the right to have a trial upon the merits of the case.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

During the period which began in December of 1975 and ended in March of 1977, appellant was a patient of and undergoing medical treatment from respondent Dr. Gordon Lee Balka and respondent Vernal Family Health Center. Dr. Balka was, during this sixteen month period, employed by the Vernal Family Health Center. In the cause of this treatment, appellant was furnished with an unwarranted amount of prescriptions and refills (approximately 217) of no less than fourteen different drugs, by Dr. Balka and other members of the staff of the Vernal Family Health Center, all of which were dispensed by respondent Vernal Drug Company.

As a direct result of the negligence in providing appellant with this enormous quantity of drugs, appellant became disoriented and incoherent, which disorientation necessitated her hospitalization in respondent Uintah County Hospital on March 12, 1977. After approximately three days of hospitalization, due to negligent treatment and supervision of respondent Uintah County Hospital, appellant began to suffer continual convulsive seizures which required her transfer and admission

to Holy Cross Hospital on March 17, 1977. These seizures were eventually controlled and on April 6, 1977 appellant was returned to Uintah County Hospital where she remained until her discharge on April 12, 1977.

Subsequently, upon the stabilization of appellant's condition and the administration of tests in March of 1978 it was discovered that as a result of the aforementioned abuse of drugs and convulsive seizures appellant had suffered permanent mental disability. This deterioration of mental capability has caused appellant to function at a very marginal level in need of continual close supervision to provide for her basic needs.

On April 7, 1978, pursuant to 78-14-8, Utah Code Ann., appellant's husband and attorney executed a notice of intent to commence a malpractice action which was in the form of a letter and which was served on respondents Vernal Family Health Center, Dr. Balka, Vernal Drug Company and Uintah County Hospital on April 12, 1978.

On July 19, 1978, appellant filed the Complaint which initiated this action.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANT DID IN FACT COMPLY WITH THE NOTICE REQUIREMENT OF SECTION B OF THE UTAH HEALTH CARE MALPRACTICE ACT BY SERVING A LETTER ON EACH RESPONDENT MORE THAN NINETY DAYS PRIOR TO THE INITIATION OF THIS ACTION.

The Utah Health Care Malpractice Act was originally

enacted in 1976 and is found at 78-14-1 et seq., Utah Code Ann. This Act was amended in several aspects by the Utah Legislature in 1979. Although appellant's cause of action accrued prior to the enactment of these amendments, it is clear that her cause of action is to be governed by the Act in its amended form, since these amendments dealt only with procedural matters. Foil v. Ballinger, No. 16071, filed September 19, 1979. Section 8 of the Act now reads as follows:

"No malpractice action against a health care provider may be initiated unless and until the plaintiff gives the prospective defendant or his executor or successor, at least ninety days prior notice of intent to commence an action. Such notice shall include a general statement of the nature of the claim, the persons involved, the date, time and place of occurrence, the circumstances thereof, specific allegations of misconduct on the part of the prospective defendant, the nature of the alleged injuries and other damages sustained. Notice may be in letter or affidavit form executed by the plaintiff or his attorney..."

Since the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act is of recent vintage, there is very little case law in existence to aid in the interpretation of its notice requirement. In fact, no case has been found in which this Court has addressed the question of what constitutes sufficient compliance with the requirements of 78-14-8. For this reason, it is helpful to look to analogous situations in which notices of claim are required to be filed prior to the initiation of an action.

One such situation is found in Hatch v. Weber County,

459 P.2d 436 (Utah 1969). In that case, plaintiff had served a notice of claim for attorneys' fees on the county in the form of a letter to the County Commission, County Clerk, and County Attorney and defendant contended that no proper claim had been filed pursuant to 17-15-10, Utah Code Ann. This Court rejected the contention that strict compliance with 17-15-10 was necessary and stated that it was sufficient if the statute was substantially complied with when such substantial compliance fulfilled the purposes for which the notice requirement was designed.

Similarly, with regard to various other statutes that provide for the giving of notice, this Court has also embraced the doctrine of substantial compliance. Thus, in State v. District Court of Salt Lake County, 115 P.2d 913 (Utah 1941), which case involved an action against the State of Utah for the disgorgement of an unlawful tax, it was stated that "There must be substantial compliance with the designated statutory procedure." Further, in Tooele Meat & Storage Co. v. Morse, 136 P. 965 (Utah 1913), Mr. Justice Frick adopted the doctrine of substantial compliance citing 29 Cyc. 1117:

"The general rule in respect to notices is that mere informalities do not vitiate them so long as they do not mislead, and give the necessary information to the proper parties."

That strict compliance is not essential to satisfy the notice requirement of 78-14-8 is further shown by analyzing those situations in which strict compliance with statutory

procedure has been typically required by the Utah courts. Those cases requiring a strict and literal compliance with the statutory procedure have generally involved a statutorily created right, such as the right to sue a governmental entity. For example, see Scarborough v. Granite School District, 531 P.2d 480 (Utah 1975). The rationale of requiring strict compliance in such a situation is that a party who is seeking the benefit of a statutorily derived right should not be allowed to claim only the favorable aspects of the statute which confers the right and to ignore the conditions upon which that right is predicated. It should be noted, however, that ample authority exists for the proposition that substantial compliance will suffice even where the notice of claim requirement arises from a statutorily created right. Nelson v. Dunkin, 419 P.2d 984 (Wash. 1966); Jorstad v. City of Lewiston, 456 P.2d 766 (Idaho 1969).

Regardless of the split of authority as to whether strict compliance is required when attempting to enforce a statutorily created right, it is clear that the instant case is not of the type of cases in which the Utah courts have required strict compliance with the procedural requirements. That is, the right to sue for malpractice does not arise as the result of a statutory enactment waiving immunity subject to stated conditions, but rather, it is a long standing common law right. Further, it is a well settled principle that the Utah statutes are to be liberally construed to effect their

objectives and to promote justice. 68-3-2, Utah Code Anno. Such a policy of liberality requires that a plaintiff need only manifest substantial compliance with the notice requirement of 78-14-8.

An examination of the notice of intent provided in the instant case shows that appellant did substantially comply with 78-14-8. This notice was in letter form, dated April 7, 1978, and executed by appellant's attorney. Said notice was timely served within the statute of limitations provided for by 78-14-4 on respondents Vernal Family Health Center, Dr. Lee Balka, Vernal Drug Company, and Uintah County Hospital on April 12, 1978. Appellant's complaint was not filed until July 19, 1978--a period of ninety-eight days subsequent to the service of the notice of intent on each defendant.

The notice served on respondents contained the following language:

Pursuant to 78-14-8, UCA, notice is herewith given that Marzine Yates, husband of Velma Gladys Yates, potentially is asserting and claiming and may commence a civil action for damages arising out of possible negligent prescribing, negligent dispensing of drugs or other forms of prescribed medicine, and negligent hospitalization and treatment of his wife. In compliance with the aforesaid section of the Utah Code, it is believed and will be alleged in the event a civil action is commenced that from approximately March 1976 until March 1978, plaintiff's wife received prescriptions from the Vernal Drug Company believed to have been prescribed by Dr. Lee Balka in his official capacity as a partner or responsible agent of the Vernal Family Health Center, which prescriptions, in combination of use or separate, were dispensed

in an excessive amount which has resulted in permanent mental damage to claimant's wife. It is further believed that as a result of the prolonged excess abuse of the prescription medication, the seizure and subsequent coma which claimant's wife suffered approximately one year ago were possibly the result of negligence. (emphasis added)

Section 8 of the Health Care Malpractice Act states that the following information be contained in the notice of intent:

- 1) a general statement of the nature of the claim,
- 2) the persons involved,
- 3) the date, time and place of occurrence,
- 4) the circumstances thereof,
- 5) specific allegations of misconduct, and
- 6) the nature of the alleged injuries.

A reading of the letter served by appellant indicates that appellant did provide respondents with the above information and substantially complied with 78-14-8 in all aspects. That is, the claim was identified as one involving negligent prescribing and dispensing of drugs and negligent hospitalization, the appellant and respondents were identified, the time of occurrence was set during the period from March 1976 to March 1978 and specific misconduct was alleged in the excessive supplying of appellant with prescriptions resulting in seizures and injuries consisting of permanent mental damage. This information sufficiently apprised respondents of appellant's claim and substan-

tially complied with the provisions of 78-14-8.

POINT II

RESPONDENTS RECEIVED ACTUAL NOTICE OF APPELLANT'S INTENT TO COMMENCE A MALPRACTICE ACTION SUFFICIENT TO FULLY SATISFY THE PURPOSES COMTEMPLATED BY THE LEGISLATURE IN ENACTING SECTION 8 OF THE UTAH HEALTH CARE MALPRACTICE ACT.

Not only did appellant comply with the provisions of 78-14-8, but her notice further satisfied the intent underlying the enactment of that section. In order to correctly interpret the notice requirement of 78-14-8, the legislative intent underlying the Health Care Malpractice Act must be ascertained, since these provisions must be construed so as to accomplish the purposes of the Act. Section 2 of this Act states the purposes of the Act as follows:

...to provide a reasonable time in which actions may be commenced against health care providers while limiting that time to a specific period for which professional liability insurance premiums can be reasonably and accurately calculated; and to provide other procedural changes to expedite early evaluation and settlement of claims.

It is apparent that 78-14-8 was adopted merely as a procedural device to insure that potential defendants receive actual notice of a claim against them, and have an opportunity to resolve that claim prior to the filing of a complaint. This is conclusively shown by reference to the "Report of the Activity and Recommendations of the Social Services Study Committee" of December 17, 1975 which is found in Medical

Malpractice Insurance Problems, Report to the 41st Legislative, Research Report No. 2, January 1976, Office of Legislative Research State of Utah Recommendation 9 of that report established the notice requirement now found at 78-14-8 and states:

The Committee feels that the requirement that the plaintiff give notice of action prior to suit will enhance the possibility of a settlement of the claim before suit.

Thus, the Legislature intended the notice requirement of 78-14-8 to provide potential medical malpractice defendants the opportunity to evaluate claims and to engage in settlement negotiations prior to the filing of a suit. The intent was not to create a technical stumbling block for unwary plaintiffs, but only to provide a time period of ninety days within which settlement negotiations could be pursued.

In the instant case, it is not disputed that each respondent received actual notice of the claim and had ample opportunities to investigate the claim and engage in settlement proceedings prior to the initiation of litigation. In fact, appellant's notice was served with dispatch after the discovery in March of 1978 of appellant's mental disabilities, which promptness enabled respondents to make an early investigation and evaluation of the claim while the matter was of recent memory and while witnesses were still readily available. That is, appellant has accorded respondents with every right that the legislature intended she should.

To adopt a construction of 78-14-8 requiring strict and technical compliance, in the fact of actual knowledge by respondents of the type of information designed to be provided by 78-14-8, would be an obvious injustice. Further, such a reading would thwart the purpose of the Act by erecting a mere technical requirement serving to increase uncertainty, which is inimical to the facilitation of reasonable and accurate calculation of premiums. Form should not be held in violate at the cost of substance, especially where respondents had actual notice of the claim, which actual notice provided respondents with the information and settlement period which 78-14-8 was intended to provide.

POINT III

IN ADDITION TO COMPLIANCE WITH 78-14-8,
APPELLANT SATISFIED THE REQUIREMENTS OF
ALL OTHER APPLICABLE STATUTE'S PROVIDING
FOR THE FILING OF A NOTICE OF CLAIM.

As a preliminary matter, it should be noted that the only other such applicable statute providing for the filing of a notice of claim is found in the Utah Governmental Immunity Act 63-30-1 et seq., Utah Code Ann., at Section 11. On its fact, 17-15-10, Utah Code Ann., which requires the filing of claims against the county with the County Auditor, appears to be applicable. A closer examination, however, reveals that such a contention cannot stand.

17-15-10 was first enacted in the Revised Statutes,

1898, while the Utah Governmental Immunity Act was enacted in 1965. Prior to this statutory abrogation of immunity for actions sounding in negligence by governmental entities in 1965, a cause of action founded in this abrogation of immunity is to be governed solely by the procedure enunciated in the statute which waives the immunity. Such a conclusion is consistent with the role that when two statutes relate to the same general statute to govern those situations within the scope of its coverage. Rammell v. Smith, 560 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1977).

The requirement of a filing of a notice pursuant to the Utah Governmental Immunity Act is found at 63-30-11 as follows:

Any person having a claim for injury to person or property against a governmental entity or its employee shall, before maintaining an action under this act, file a written notice of claim with such entity for appropriate relief including money damages. The notice of claim shall set forth a brief statement of the facts and the nature of the claim asserted, shall be signed by the person making the claim or such person's agent, attorney, parent or legal guardian, and shall be directed and delivered to the responsible governmental entity within the time prescribed in Section 63-30-12 or 63-30-13, as applicable.

An examination of the notice served on respondents on April 12, 1978, (see text of this notice on page 7) shows compliance with the above quoted section. That is, said notice was in writing, was served prior to the filing of this action, contained a brief statement of the facts and the nature of the claim,

was signed by appellant's attorney and husband, and, as will be discussed below, was timely filed. Further, the notice furnished by appellant fully satisfied the purposes for which the notice of claim statute was enacted. These purposes were identified by Mr. Justice Maughn in his dissenting opinion in Scarborough v. Granite School District, 531 P.2d 480 (1975):

The purpose of statutes requiring the presentation of claims to political subdivisions, prior to filing a suit, is in furtherance of public policy to present unnecessary litigation. The purpose of notice provisions is to afford the political subdivision an opportunity to investigate the claim while the matter is of recent memory, witnesses are yet available, conditions have not materially changed and to determine if there is liability, and if there is, the extent of it.

Mr. Justice Maughn also rejected the contention that strict compliance with the notice of claim statute was required when defendant was provided with all of the opportunities that the statute was intended to provide.

With regard to the question whether appellant's notice of claim was timely filed, Section 63-30-13 provides that claims against a political subdivision are barred unless filed within one year after the cause of action arises. Thus, it is crucial to make the determination as to when appellant's cause of action arose. This Court recently held in Foil v. Ballinger, No. 16071, filed September 19, 1979, that in a medical malpractice action, the statute of limitations does not begin to run "until the injured person knew or should have

known that he had sustained an injury and that the injury was caused by negligent action." Similarly, in the context of a notice of claim filed against a county pursuant to 63-30-13, Utah Code Ann., this Court held that no cause of action arose until plaintiff actually discovered the cause of the damage to his property. Vincent v. Salt Lake County, 583 P.2d 105 (1978). Both of these decisions relied on Christiansen v. Rees, 436 P.2d 435 (Utah 1968), wherein this Court stated:

It seems somewhat incongruous that an injured person must commence a malpractice action prior to the time he knew, or reasonably should have known, of his injury and right of action.

Thus, appellant's cause of action could not have arisen until appellant had discovered the injury and that such injury was caused by negligent conduct. The earliest possible date that this discovery could have occurred would have been on April 12, 1977, the date of appellant's release from Uintah County Hospital. It is much more likely, however, that the cause of action did not arise until March of 1978, after appellant's condition had stabilized and examination revealed permanent mental disability. In any event, since the notice of claim was served on April 12, 1978, such complaint was timely--that is, the earliest date on which the one year period provided by 63-30-13 could have run was April 13, 1978.

Regardless of whether appellant's claim was filed within one year of the accrual of her cause of action, appellant's mental disability tolled the running of the one year filing

period. Section 78-12-36 states:

If a person entitled to bring an action, other than for the recovery of a real property, is at the time the cause of action accrued, either:

- (1) Under the age of majority; or,
- (2) Mentally incompetent and without a legal guardian, or,
- (3) Imprisoned on a criminal charge...

The time such disability is not a part of the time limited for the commencement of the action.

This provision was before the court in the context of the notice provision of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act in Scott v. School Board of Granite School District, 568 P.2d 746 (1977).

In that case, Mr. Justice Hall stated:

Notwithstanding the prior pronouncements of this court, a minor claimant is justly entitled to the protection afforded by said Section 78-12-36(1), UCA, 1953, in all cases, including notice requirements of the type contained in the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. To hold otherwise is a denial of due process and equal protection.

Additionally, Section 63-30-11 provides that if the claimant is a minor or mentally incompetent, or imprisoned at the time that the cause of action accrued, then the court may extend the time for service of the notice of claim.

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