1980

Velma Gladys Yates v. Vernal Family Health Center,
A Project of Division of Family And Community
Medicine, University of Utah; Uintah County
Hospital; Vernal Drug Company, A Utah
Corporation; And Gordon Lee Balka, M.D : Brief
of Respondents Uintah County And Uintah
County Hospital

Utah Supreme Court

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

Similarly, in Himes v. City of Flint, 196 N.W.2d 321 (Mich. App. 1972) the court held that a statutory notice of fire violation had not been complied with since the city had failed to

meet at least three of the mandatory standards prescribed by the ordinance. Just as in the present case, the city argued that the notice substantially complied with the statute and was adequate as a matter of law. The court rejected this argument and stated the following:

It cannot be said from a reading of the notice that the mandatory contents were impliedly, or expressly, included therein. Since the directives are mandatory, the City Commission has determined that there shall be no room for administrative discretion to omit a portion of the contents of a notice whenever it appears to be unnecessary in the circumstances of an individual violation.

The concept of "substantial compliance" can only be drawn upon in situations where the provisions of the notice are ambiguous. In such cases the court would then determine whether the notice "substantially complied" despite the ambiguity. However, the presently considered notice does not fall within this category--there being no language which could be construed as complying with the mandatory content requirements. Id. at 324. (Emphasis in the original).

Finally, this Court in Sweet v. Salt Lake City, 134 P. 1167 (Utah 1914) held that the purpose of the statute requiring notice to be given to the city for injuries (formerly Section 10-7-77, U.C.A.) is to require every claimant to state clearly all of the elements of his claim to the Board of Commissioners or City Council for allowance as a condition precedent to his right to sue the city and recover his damages in an ordinary

action. This Court held that a notice in which damages were specified as "for general impairment" of an automobile was an insufficient description of the damages and one which could not be cured by amendment. See also Stoops v. City of Denver, 73 P. 1094 (Colo. App. 1903).

It is therefore evident that a review of the statutory requirement of notice as compared with the April 7 letter clearly omits at least four of the six essential elements required by such notice before an action may be commenced against Uintah County or Uintah County Hospital. As to these defendants there is no question of "substantial compliance" since the defendants are not even mentioned in the text of the letter, no dates or places are described relating to the defendants, nor is any circumstance or allegation of specific misconduct made as to these defendants. As in the previously cited cases, this is not a question of ambiguity of a notice, but is rather a case where all requirements were completely omitted.

For this reason, the statutory notice requirement of Section 78-14-8 was not fulfilled by the plaintiff and the trial court properly dismissed the subsequently filed action.

C. Any Claimed Actual Knowledge by Defendant Uintah County and Uintah County Hospital is Immaterial.

Appellant argues in her brief that it is apparent that Section 78-14-8 was adopted "merely as a procedural device to insure that potential defendants receive actual notice of a

claim against them, and have an opportunity to resolve that claim prior to the filing of a complaint." (Appellant's brief, p. 9). Appellant then argues that since it's undisputed that each respondent received actual notice of the claim and had ample opportunity to investigate the claim the fact that the notice may not have been strictly complied with is not important. Appellant finally argues that actual knowledge by Respondents of a potential claim is all that is required since a "technical" reading of the statute would create a "stumbling block for unwary plaintiffs." (Appellant's brief, pp. 10-11).

This argument is without merit. Had the legislature only intended that notice of a potential claim be given to a health care provider it would have been a simple matter for the statute to merely state that notice of intent should be so provided. Instead, however, the legislature expressly and in substantial detail outlined the notice requirements. The legislature obviously felt that such information was essential in order to provide the health care recipient with enough information to conduct an investigation and to possibly enter into a settlement with the claimant. It is not the prerogative of Plaintiff to say that such required information was only a "technicality" and that the mere act of notifying the health care provider of a possible claim was sufficient.

This Court has on several occasions held that actual know-

ledge by County employees under the Governmental Immunity Act is not sufficient to dispense with the requirement of filing a properly executed notice of claim. Edwards v. Iron County, 531 P.2d 476 (Utah 1975); Scarborough v. Granite School District, 531 P.2d 480 (Utah 1975); Varoz v. Sevey, 506 P.2d 435 (Utah 1973).

In Nelson v. Dunkin, 419 P.2d 984 (Wash. 1966) a similar argument was advanced by that plaintiff in a governmental immunity action. In that case the plaintiff failed to supply information concerning his residency at the time the accident occurred. The court there stated the following:

[T]he very appealing argument is made that in this particular situation the county was not in any way prejudiced by not having this information. The boy, Lewis Gordon Nelson, was in a hospital in Whatcom County. The County Coroner, and presumably the sheriff, had made a complete investigation of all facts relative to the collision; and the avenues of the interrogatories and depositions were available and the County had availed itself of the former.

The answer to this argument is that the information required is for the County's consideration of the claim. There can be no interrogatories and depositions until the county has rejected the claim and an action has been commenced. Id. at 986.

Obviously, the purpose of Section 78-14-8 was to provide time for a health care provider to investigate an alleged claim and to allow the health care provider the opportunity to settle such claim before a court proceeding has been filed in order to avoid adverse publicity. The intent was not to merely no-

tify the health care provider that a claim may be asserted but was to provide sufficient and substantial information to such health care provider that a thorough and adequate investigation could be made.

Appellant's argument would require a health care provider to be left at the mercy of the claimant as to the amount of information which it is given or as to how knowledge of the claim is obtained. Just as with the Government Immunity Act, the purpose of the written notice is to prevent any dispute from arising as to when notice was received while at the same time providing essential information necessary for the purpose of investigation.

The notice statute of the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act is not a "technical stumbling block" for an "unwary plaintiff." The statute is clearly written and simply requires a notice to be served 90 days prior to the commencement of an action which contains six simple and common types of information which any plaintiff should readily be able to supply. In this case, the notice was prepared upon the stationery of an attorney. It is certainly not unreasonable to expect a practicing Utah attorney to be able to comply with the straightforward requirements of this statutory mandate.

For these reasons, any actual knowledge of Plaintiff's claim by Defendant Uintah County or Uintah County Hospital is immaterial and the trial court correctly dismissed Plaintiff's

complaint for failure to comply with the mandatory notice requirement.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFF'S ACTION AGAINST UINTAH COUNTY AND UINTAH COUNTY HOSPITAL FOR FAILING TO COMPLY WITH THE UTAH GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT.

Plaintiff's complaint alleges that Uintah County Hospital is owned and operated by Uintah County. (R., p. 1). Defendants admitted in their answer to this fact. (R., p. 22).

Defendants Uintah County and Uintah County Hospital claimed at the trial court level that Plaintiff had failed to comply with the Governmental Immunity Act by not filing a Notice of Claim with the County Commission as required by Section 63-30-11 and 63-30-13.

Plaintiff responded to this argument by claiming that this Court's case of Greenhalgh v. Payson City, 530 P.2d 799 (Utah 1975) held that the operation of a hospital was a proprietary function and therefore was not within the Governmental Immunity Act. (R., p. 209). The Greenhaugh decision was based upon an interpretation of Section 63-30-3, U.C.A., 1953 which stated that the Governmental Immunity Act only applied to activities involving governmental functions. This Court held that since the operation of the hospital was a proprietary function the procedures of the Governmental Immunity Act were not applicable since a direct action could be maintained against the city

without a waiver of immunity.

Apparently in direct response to the Greenhaugh decision the Utah legislature in 1978 amended Section 63-30-3 to include hospital operated facilities within the procedure of the act. The amended statute reads as follows:

Except as may be otherwise provided in this Act, all governmental entities are immune from suit for any injury which results from the exercise of a governmental function, governmentally owned hospital, nursing home, or other governmental health care facility. Section 63-30-3. (Supp. 1979).

Appellant has apparently recognized this amendment since she has failed to claim the proprietary distinction in her brief. Presumably, therefore, Appellant has conceded that the Governmental Immunity Act is applicable and that the notice provisions of Section 63-30-11 and 63-30-13 must be followed. (See Appellant's brief, pp. 12-13 discussing these notice provisions).

Section 63-30-13, as amended in 1978, states the following:

Claim Against Political Subdivision--Time for Filing Notice. - A claim against a political subdivision is barred unless notice of claim is filed with the governing body of the political subdivision within one year after the cause of action arises. (Emphasis added).

Appellant argues that the April 7, 1978 letter was sufficient to satisfy the requirements of Section 63-30-11. (Appellant's brief, p. 12). It is unnecessary, however, to discuss

the content of this letter with reference to the Governmental Immunity Act since it is undisputed that the April 7, 1978 letter was never filed with the Uintah County Commission--the governing body of Uintah County.

This Court has held in Scarborough v. Granite School District, 531 P.2d 480 (Utah 1975) that a necessary element of the statute is that the notice "be directed to and delivered to someone authorized to or responsible for receiving it." The failure of Plaintiff to file any notice with the Uintah County Commission clearly fails to meet the requirement of Section 63-30-11. As such, the trial court was correct in concluding that the requisite notice had not been given to the governing board of Uintah County and therefore a civil suit was barred.

As a final note, Appellant has argued that the time for filing such notice is tolled because of the alleged mental disability of the plaintiff and because of this Court's decision in Scott v. School Board of Granite School District, 568 P.2d 746 (1977). (Appellant's brief, pp. 14-15).

Once again, however, the plaintiff has failed to note that the legislature has amended Section 63-30-11 which in effect has overruled the Scott decision.

Paragraph 3 of Amended Section 63-30-11 states the following:

If the claimant is under the age of majority,
or mentally incompetent and without a legal

guardian, or in prison at the time the cause of action accrued, the court, in its discretion, may extend the time for service of notice of claim, but in no event shall it grant an extension which exceeds the general statutory period of limitation applicable to the cause of action. In determining whether to grant an extension, the court shall consider whether the delay in serving the notice of claim will substantially prejudice the governmental entity in maintaining its defense on the merits.

Thus, the amended statute requires an order from the court before any tolling can occur as to the service of notice of claim. In this case, no such request was made to the court nor has it ever been judicially determined that Plaintiff was incompetent at the time the cause of action accrued.

For this reason the one-year time limitation prescribed by the statute has expired and Plaintiff is therefore barred from attempting to file a new notice of claim arising from her treatment at the Uintah County Hospital in 1977.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFF'S ACTION AGAINST UINTAH COUNTY AND UINTAH COUNTY HOSPITAL FOR FAILING TO FILE NOTICE OF THE CLAIM WITH THE UINTAH COUNTY AUDITOR AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 17-15-10, U.C.A.

As a third alternative ground for dismissal the trial court found that Plaintiff had failed to file a claim pursuant to Section 17-15-10, U.C.A., 1953. This statute states in pertinent part the following:

The Board of County Commissioners shall not hear or consider any claim of any per-

son against the county. . . unless the same is itemized, giving names, dates and particular services rendered, or until it has been passed upon by the county auditor. . . . Every claim against the county must be presented to the County Auditor within a year after the last item of the account or claim accrued. . . .

It is undisputed that no type of notice or claim was ever filed with the Uintah County Auditor. (See Affidavit of Morris R. Cook, Uintah County Auditor, R., p. 203).

This Court in Edwards v. Iron County, 531 P.2d 476 (Utah 1975) held that in an action brought against a county-owned hospital for alleged malpractice it was necessary for the plaintiff to file a timely claim under the provisions of Section 17-15-10. The facts in that case as to the claim asserted were nearly identical to the claim now asserted by Plaintiff.

Appellant argues, however, that Section 17-15-10 is no longer applicable because of the enactment of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. (Appellant's brief, pp. 11-12). Plaintiff asserts, therefore, that the Governmental Immunity Act preempts the county claim statute and eliminates the need for filing under it.

This argument is not valid. The original Governmental Immunity Act passed in 1965 provided for only a 90-day period of notice and also stated that any claim against a city was to be governed by Section 10-7-77, U.C.A. which provided a 30-day notice requirement. This latter section was the city equiva-

lent of the county 17-15-10 section.

In 1975 this Court's decision in Edwards was decided. The legislature was thus fully aware that this Court required a filing under Section 17-15-10 in cases involving malpractice against the county.

In 1978 the legislature repealed Section 10-7-77 (the city claim statute) and amended Section 63-30-13 to delete the reference to the previous city statute. (U.C.A. 1979 Supp.).

However, the legislature did not repeal or amend Section 17-15-10 pertaining to claims against the county. It is apparent that had the legislature intended for the Utah Governmental Immunity Act to preempt Section 17-15-10 it would have amended the latter statute at the same time the city statute was abolished and the Governmental Immunity Statute was revised.

In absence of such revocation or amendment Section 17-15-10 is still viable law and still requires a claim be submitted to the county auditor before a suit can be commenced.

Certainly, Plaintiff's attorney should have been aware of this statute and its requirement since he was a named plaintiff in the case of Hatch v. Weber County, 459 P.2d 436 (Utah 1969) involving an interpretation of Section 17-15-10.

In any event, Plaintiff and her attorney failed to correctly file a Notice of Claim under either the Governmental Immunity Act or the County Claim Act and therefore the trial

court correctly dismissed the complaint under either or both of these provisions.

POINT IV

THE GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT AND HEALTH CARE PRACTICE ACT ARE CONSTITUTIONAL.

Appellant asserts two final arguments in her brief. First, that the notice section 63-30-11 of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act is unconstitutional and second that the notice provision Section 78-14-8 of the Health Care Malpractice Act is also unconstitutional. Both of these arguments are without merit.

Appellant has failed to raise the question of constitutionality of the Governmental Immunity Act at the lower trial level. This Court has held that a defendant cannot raise an issue for the first time on appeal. Neilson v. Eisen, 209 P.2d 928 (1949); Wagner v. Olson, 482 P.2d 702 (1971). This rule was recently reaffirmed in State of Utah v. Daniel Lee Laird, No. 16318 (Utah, October 11, 1979).

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